UA 9-1.8V

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 72,096

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

SID J. WHITE

vs.

Respondent.

JUN 29 1988 HAROLD TUTHILL, CLERK, SUPPLIED Deput Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RALPH BARREIRA

Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Ruth Bryan Owen Rohdes Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Mìami, 33128 Florida (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. Respondent, Harold Tuthill, was the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal and the Defendant in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the The symbol "R" will designate the 60 page trial court. record on appeal and "T" the 27 page transcript of proceedings, both of which will be transmitted to this Court by the Clerk of the District Court on July 8, 1988. State has contemporaneously filed a motion to supplement the record with the 153 page Supplemental Record, which was part of the record on appeal in the Third District, but which was mistakenly omitted from the instant record by the Clerk of that court. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In April of 1983 Respondent was charged with committing lewd and lascivious acts in the presence of an eleven year old child, Circuit Court Case No. 83-6740 (R.1,la). On May 10, 1983, Respondent pleaded guilty to the above charge and was placed on four years probation (R.9.10). On September 14, 1984, an affidavit alleging violation of probation was entered against Respondent (R.11), alleging that Respondent violated his probation by committing a new substantive offense, to wit, lewd and lascivious acts upon a minor. The affidavit was amended on November 20, 1984 (R.12), altering the date on which the new offense occurred.

A probation violation hearing was conducted on December 3, 1984, at which the victim of the new offense, her brother (an eyewitness), her mother, and the investigating detective all testified (S.R. 1-151). The trial court found Respondent in violation, and sentenced him to fifteen years imprisonment (S.R. 148-149). Respondent was not separately convicted of the lewd and lascivious act which formed the basis of the violation. 1

Respondent was arrested and charged with this new offense in Circuit Court Case No. 84-20799, however, upon revocation of probation the State entered a nolle prosse of the new charge. (S.R.149).

Respondent appealed to the Third District, which affirmed the probation violation, but reversed the sentence because the trial court did not afford Respondent sufficient opportunity to be heard at sentencing. <u>Tuthill v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 409 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

After remand the case was reassigned to Judge Edward Cowart for resentencing. Judge Cowart held sentencing on March 3, 1986 (T.1-27), at the conclusion of which he departed above the recommended maximum of thirty months, and sentenced Respondent to fifteen years imprisonment (T.25). The written reasons for departure were:

- 1. That the defendant was placed on probation in case number 83-6740 for Lewd and Lascivious Act Upon a Child.
- 2. That the defendant was found to be in violation of his probation in a hearing before Judge Mastos and came before this Court for sentencing following the recusal of Judge Mastos.
- 3. That the substantive offense which was the basis of the probation violation was substantially similar to the charge on which the defendant was placed on probation.
- 4. That the new offense occurred within six months of the defendant being placed on probation.

(R.43).

Respondent appealed his sentence to the Third District, which held that because Respondent was not independently

convicted of the criminal acts which constitued the violation, the trial court could not deviate more than one cell above the recommended guideline range. Tuthill v. State, 12 F.L.W. 2250 (Fla. 3d DCA, September 15, 1987). The State filed a timely motion for rehearing, which was denied on February 16, 1988. During the pendency of the motion, the Fourth and Fifth Districts issued their opinions in Lambert v. State, 13 F.L.W 70 (Fla. 4th DCA, December 30, 1987), and Young v. State, 13 F.L.W. 325 (Fla. 5th DCA, February 4, 1988), in which both Courts expressly rejected the Third District's holding in Tuthill, supra.

Based on this express conflict, Petitioner sought discretionary review in this Court, which granted review and set oral argument for September 1, 1988.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IN REVOKING PROBATION, MAY DEPART ABOVE THE AUTOMATIC ONE CELL INCREASE BASED UPON THE EGREGIOUS NATURE OF THE VIOLATION, WHERE THE VIOLATION CONSISTS OF A NEW SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSE OF WHICH THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT SEPARATELY CONVICTED.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court's landmark decision in Pentaude does not directly address the instant dispute, however as Chief Judge Schwartz outlined in his vociferous dissent below, the focus of Pentaude is the nature and extent of the violation. Where the violation is sufficiently egregious, as is certainly the case here, departure is warranted. Nothing in Pentaude even remotely suggests that where such egregious conduct also constitutes a separate crime, the State must first obtain a conviction before it can be considered as a basis for departure. Indeed, Judge Baskin's opinion does not rely on any language from Pentaude, but rather on certain provisions of the Sentencing Guidelines which forbid the sentencing court from considering, as a basis for departure, conduct of the defendant for which he has not been convicted. stressed by the dissent, to blindly apply these provisions to the probation revocation setting is to ignore the purpose and function of the revocation process, and the fundamental differences between that process and other sentencing proceedings. When a defendant is initially convicted, the sentencing court has no business considering unrelated conduct of the defendant for which he has not been convicted. Prior convictions are entered on the scoresheet, and all other prior conduct is irrelevent. At the revocation hearing, on the other hand, it is the court's sole function to scrutinize the defendant's conduct and determine whether

it constitutes a violation, and if so, the proper sentence to be imposed. It makes absolutely no sense that the trial court, having determined that the defendant's conduct constituted a violation, cannot then enter a departure sentence based on the egregious nature of that violation. In this setting, the fact that the defendant could have been separately convicted is irrelevant, and to hold otherwise would emasculate the probationary process in a manner never intended by the framers of the guidelines.

The same is true of the former requirement, adopted by this Court in <u>Mischler</u> but since amended by the legislature, that the facts constituting the reasons for departure be found beyond a reasonable doubt. The standard for revocation has always been and continues to be the conscience of the court standard. Having determined under the appropriate standard that the violation occurred, and that it was especially egregious, it is illogical to apply a different standard in assessing the departure sentence.

In sum, the opinion of Judge Baskin is a classic case of mixing apples and oranges. The essence of <u>Pentaude</u> is that the guidelines did not subvert or restrict the inherent sentencing powers of the revoking court. This Court should honor that essence by reversing and reinstating the defendant's richly deserved fifteen year sentence.

ARGUMENT

COURT, THE TRIAL INREVOKING **DEPART ABOVE** THE PROBATION, MAY BASED AUTOMATIC ONE CELL INCREASE UPON THE **EGREGIOUS** NATURE OF VIOLATION. WHERE THE VIOLATION CONSISTS OF A NEW SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSE WHICH THE DEFENDANT WAS SEPERATELY CONVICTED.

In <u>Pentaude v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that upon revocation of probation, the trial court may depart above the automatic one cell increase provided by Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.701 (d)(14), where the nature and extent of the violation is severe enough to provide a clear and convincing basis for departure. In <u>Pentaude</u>, unlike here, the defendant had already been convicted of the new substantive offense prior to the revocation hearing. However nothing in <u>Pentaude</u> suggests that a prior conviction is necessary, and indeed the opposite is true:

Finally, we note agreement with [3] district court's holding that "[w]here a trial judge finds that the underlying reasons for violation of probation (as opposed to the mere fact of violation) are more than a minor infraction and are sufficiently egregious, he is entitled to depart from the presumptive guidelines range and impose an appropriate sentence within the statutory limit." So.2d at 1149. See Taylor v. State, 485 So.2d 900 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), citing Williams v. State, 480 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (certifying to this Court identical questions); Monti v. State, 480 So.2d 223 (Fla.

5th DCA 1985); Gordon v. State, 483 So.2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Rule 3.701 d.14 merely recognizes that sentencing following revocation of probation is a serious matter, and so allows for a one cell departure without the necessity of any other By no means, however, does reason. the rule even purport to completely limit the trial court's discretion in sentencing when compelling clear and convincing reasons call for departure The trial beyond the next cell. judge has discretion to so depart character based upon the of violation, the number of conditions violated, the number of times he has been placed on probation, the length of time he has been on probation before violating the terms and conditions, and any other factor material relevant defendant's to the character.

(emphasis added), Id at 528.

In the instant case the defendant committed a lewd and lascivious act upon a minor within six months of being placed on probation for the same offense. At the revocation hearing the court heard extensive testimony concerning the nature and extent of the defendant's violation (S.R.12-143), including the testimony of the young victim (S.R.103-125) and her brother (S.R.80-102), who witnessed the offense. A review of the defendant's conduct reveals such egregious behavior as to constitute not merely the existence of a violation, but a

The condition of probation violated is the requirement that the defendant live and remain at liberty without violating any law. Condition (5) of the probation order states: "You will live and remain at liberty without violating any law. A conviction in a court of law shall not be necessary in order for such a violation to constitute a violation of your probation." (R.9,10).

compelling clear and convincing basis for departure as well.

In holding Pentaude inapplicable to this cause, Tuthill v. State, 518 So.2d 1300 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), the Third District relied on Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.701(d)(11), which prohibits a departure based on conduct for which the defendant has not been convicted, as well as this Court's decision in Mischler v. State, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986), which required that the facts supporting the departure be found beyond a reasonable doubt. As cogently argued by the dissent, the application of these provisions to the revocation process is illogical and unwarranted:

To hold otherwise by requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt to support a guidelines departure in a probation situation--either, as Judge Baskin suggests, necessitating by "conviction" under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(11) 2 or, as the appellant contends, pursuant to the rule that the factual basis for a departure must be supported by that degree of proof, see State v. Mischler, 488 (Fla.1986)³-is So.2d **523** unjustifiably contrary to the entire basis of the concept of probation, which, because it is purely a matter of judicial grace (for which Tuthill successfully pleaded at his first sentencing), Bernhardt v. State, 288 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1974), requires proof of a violation sufficient only to

³ Judge Baskin authored the opinion, with Judge Pearson concurring in the result only, and Chief Judge Schwartz entering a vigorous dissent.

of satisfy the conscience Randolph v. State, 292 So.2d 374 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), cert. denied, 300 So.2d 901 (Fla.1974); see Lee v. State, 440 So.2d 612 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). I cannot agree that every probation violation hearing should be rendered meaningless in determining the propriety of a departure and would hold, to the contrary, that a finding of violation is binding and determinative in the sentencing process.

(2) There is no doubt that the departureassigned for inherent in the revocation of probation-that Tuthill committed a horri-fic act against a child which was both virtually identical to the one for which he was placed on probation and took place a short time afterward⁶-are more than sufficiently clear and convincing to support a departure. Pentaude; Cahill; Gissendaner; compare Saldana State, 510 So.2d 1238 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

Tuthill, supra at 1304

In order to appreciate the wisdom of the above analysis, it is necessary to consider the fundamentally different roles of the trial court at the initial sentencing, upon conviction, versus the revocation sentencing following the probationary hearing. At the initial sentencing, the trial court has absolutely no business delving into unrelated criminal conduct for which the defendant has not been convicted. Such conduct is wholly extraneous to the sentencing equation. At the revocation proceeding, on the other hand, the court's sole function is to review this conduct, determine if it constitutes a violation, and if so, the proper sentence.

That this conduct might also have supported an independent conviction is irrelevant in the revocation setting.

Judge Baskin also relied on the fact that since the existence of the violation is determined by the conscience of the court standard, this Court's decision in Mischler v. State, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986), requiring that the facts underlying the violation be found beyond a reasons doubt, bars departure unless a separate conviction is first obtained. It should first be noted that in response to Mischler, the legislature enacted F.S. 921.001(5) effective July 1, 1987, which provides that the underlying facts need only be established by a preponderance of the evidence, which the State submits is the functional equivalent of the conscience of the court standard. Thus in cases arising after the effective date, Mischler no longer applies. 4

Even if <u>Mischler</u> is given effect in this cause, it is nevertheless inapplicable in the probation revocation setting. As the dissent points out, the standard for determining whether a violation has occurred is the conscience of the court standard. To require a greater standard at sentencing would subvert the entire probationary scheme. To assume the legislature intended such a result,

⁴ It could also be argued that, given the prompt legislative response, Mischler from its inception was an incorrect expression of the legislative will, and thus the adoption of F.S. 921.001 (5) was not an alteration, but rather a clarification of existing law.

especially in view of the enactment of F.S. 921.001(5), would entail reliance on logic of the most woefully deficient sort. Indeed, the heart and soul of <u>Pentaude</u> is that the guidelines were never intended to displace the sentencing discretion of the revoking court.

In sum, the instant case presents a crucial question of legislative interpretation and intent. Certainly the guidelines were intended to apply to probation revocations, as Rule 3.701(d)(14) clearly states. However, it does not automatically follow that each and every guidelines provisions will apply uniformly in every conceivable sentencing scenario. The purpose of any given provision must be examined in order to uncover its intended scope. As regards 3.701(d)(11), its obvious purpose is to prohibit consideration of extraneous illegal conduct in the departure equation. The question here presented is whether this salutory purpose is in any manner served by the application of this provision to the revocation arena, where the trial court's sole and solemn duty is to examine such conduct, determine whether it constitutes a violation, and if so, the appropriate penalty. Common sense, the granddaddy of all reason, dictates in no uncertain terms a negative response.

In accord with <u>Tuthill</u>, <u>supra</u>, see <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). In accord with the dissent see <u>Young v. State</u>, 519 So.2d 719 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) and <u>Lambert v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 133 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

A final point which must be addressed is that portion of Judge Baskin's opinion holding that because the legislature amended the guidelines to prohibit appellate review of the extent of departure, the defendant should be allowed to withdraw his election to be sentenced under the guidelines. The first problem with this analysis is that it puts the cart before the horse, in that the extent of the departure does not become an issue until and unless the grounds for departure are upheld. Here Judge Baskin determined that the grounds were improper, thus the extent of the departure could hardly have been more irrelevant. The portion of the opinion dealing with that issue is therefor meaningless dicta. However, should this Court hold the departure grounds valid, this issue must be addressed.

As the dissent points out, the proper remedy for quidelines amendments falling within the dictates of Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. , 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987), is to deny the amendment retroactive application to offenses committed prior to the effective date, and to apply the guideline provisions in effect at the time of the offense. Thus, the proper resolution of this issue is to ignore the amendment and examine the reasonableness of the stated by the dissent, the extent of departure. As defendant's despicable conduct, virtually identical to that for which he was placed on probation and within six months thereof, was more than an adequate basis for the $12 ext{ }1/2 ext{ }year$ upward departure.

Judge Baskin's decision to allow the defendant to withdraw his guidelines election defies explanation. Should this Court reach this issue, its proper resolution is, to put it mildly, readily apparent.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the District court below is erroneous, and should therefor be reversed.