OA 9-1-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,096

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

HAROLD TUTHILL,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1351 N.W. 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-3010

BETH C. WEITZNER Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The rules governing departures under the guidelines scheme defendants facing sentencing apply uniformly to all noncapital felony convictions, regardless of whether or not sentencing is preceded by probation revocation. This conclusion is fully supported by the requirement of Rule 3.701(d)(14), Fla.R.Crim.P., that sentencing following probation revocation be "in accordance with the guidelines", this Court's decision in State v. Pentaude, 500 So.2d 526, 528 (Fla. 1987) that in order to impose a departure sentence beyond the one-cell increase for probation revocation under Rule 3.701(d)(14), "compelling clear and convincing reasons are required", and the many decisions at the district court-level recognizing that the guidelines' rules are fully applicable to sentencing departures following probation revocation.

In accordance with the foregoing, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly held that the reasonable doubt standard set forth in <u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986), and the conviction requirement of Rule 3.701(d)(11) apply to sentencing departures following probation revocation.

The state's contrary position, in effect, seeks to exempt sentencing following revocation from the guidelines scheme. The state offers no cogent basis for its argument but, instead, confuses the question of whether probation should be revoked with the clearly discrete question of what sentence should be imposed for the original offense upon revocation.

The probation revocation determination focuses upon conduct

during the term of probation in order to resolve whether there has been a violation and, if so, whether conditional liberty should be continued or terminated. In contrast, sentencing after revocation is for the purpose of imposing punishment for the original offense of which the defendant has been convicted. Therefore, sentencing following probation revocation is no different than sentencing in any other felony case and is governed by the guidelines scheme.

Of course, departures, although circumscribed, are permitted in every case based upon a defendant's unscored misconduct. Accordingly, this Court recognized in State v. Pentaude, supra, that in sentencing following revocation, departures may be based on such matters as the timing of the violation and its underlying basis. These matters are the same as many other factors which may be considered at any sentencing. Thus, factors such as the timing of offenses in relationship to prior releases from prison, or the nature and/or number of crimes committed after the offense for which sentence is being imposed are valid departure reasons.

Before these reasons can be used to depart, however, the facts supporting them must be established beyond a reasonable doubt, and, if they encompass a crime, a conviction must be obtained. The reasonable doubt standard of Mischler and the conviction-requirement of Rule 3.701(d)(11) foster reliablity, prevent the meting out of extended punishment for alleged crimes for which there has been no finding of guilt, and promote the guidelines scheme's central goal of uniformity since departures are deterred unless soundly based. These concerns apply with

equal force to initial and post-revocation sentencing.

The present case particularly exemplifies the lack of state's attempt to exempt post-revocation the sentencing from the guidelines scheme. For the offense for which Mr. Tuthill was being sentenced, the recommended range was any nonstate prison sanction. A fifteen-year departure sentence was imposed based only upon a conscience-of-the court-finding that Mr. Tuthill purportedly committed a crime while on probation that was similar to the offense for which he had been placed on No conviction was obtained for this alleged probation. subsequent criminal conduct; the state had abandoned prosecution of the charge. Perhaps more critical, the very conclusion put forward as the reason to depart, that Mr. Tuthill committed the alleged offense during probation, was strongly susceptible to Substantial evidence was presented that the reasonable doubt. alleged offense, if it occurred, could only have occurred before he was on probation. The evidence, however, was never tested under the reasonable doubt standard.

To singularly exempt sentencing following revocation from the guidelines scheme, as the state advocates, based upon an allegation of misconduct assessed under the conscience of the court standard invites the meting out of punishment for acts of which a defendant has not been found guilty, and encourages disparity in the sentencing of similarly-situated offenders, in contravention of the guidelines scheme's very purpose.

ARGUMENT

Ι

SENTENCING IMPOSED AFTER REVOCATION OF PROBATION IS NOT EXEMPT FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCHEME.

Consistency in the sentencing of felony offenders throughout the counties of this state is the underlying premise of the guidelines. In re Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 439 So.2d 848, 849 (Fla. 1983); State v. Brown, 13 F.L.W. 389 (Fla. June 16, 1988). By prescribing recommended sentencing ranges which reflect objective offender and offenserelated criteria, uniformity is promoted and unwarranted disparity avoided. Rule 3.701(b), Fla.R.Crim.P.; Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218, 1219-20 (Fla. 1985); Santiago v. State, 478 So.2d 47, 48-9 (Fla. 1985); Whitehead v. State, 498 So.2d 863, 866 (Fla. 1986). Although departures from the guidelines are permitted, to ensure that they do not undercut the central goal of uniformity, a compilation of restrictive rules governing departures has been promulgated and carefully enforced. State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523, 524-25 (Fla. 1986); Hendrix, supra, at 1220; Scurry v. State, 489 So.2d 25, 28 (Fla. 1986). Fully consistent with this goal of uniformity, the comprehensive guidelines scheme governs all non-capital felony sentencing, including sentencing upon probation revocation.

Although not expressly asserted, the state's argument comprises a thinly-veiled claim that sentences imposed upon felony offenders whose probation has been revoked are exempt from

the guidelines scheme. This argument is precisely contradicted by the plain language of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(14) and this Court's decision in <u>State v. Pentaude</u>, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

Rule 3.701(d)(14) expressly provides as follows:

Sentences imposed after revocation of probation or community control must be in accordance with the guidelines. The sentence imposed after revocation of probation or community control may be included within the original cell (guidelines range) or may be increased to the next higher cell (guidelines range) without requiring a reason for departure.

In <u>State v. Pentaude</u>, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), this Court reiterated the clear intendment of this rule that sentencing following probation revocation squarely falls within the guidelines scheme. It recognized that a trial court may increase a sentence to the next higher recommended cell based upon the fact of probation revocation and that, as in every guidelines case, its authority to impose a departure sentence is not prohibited. This Court observed, however, that a departure from the one-cell increased range is circumscribed by the governing principle, applicable to all cases under the guidelines, that "compelling clear and convincing reasons" be established. <u>State</u> v. Pentaude, supra, 500 So.2d at 528.

Refutation of the state's argument that sentencing following probation revocation is exempt from the guidelines is found not only in the clear terms of Rule 3.701(d)(14) and the express holding of Pentaude, but in the many decisions at the district-

court level recognizing the applicabilty of the guidelines to sentencing following probation revocation.²

The state seeks to circumvent the clear language of Rule 3.701(d)(14) and the decisional law which has construed it by crafting a position which erroneously commingles the issue of

See e.g., Eldridge v. State, 13 F.L.W. 1042 (Fla. 5th DCA April 28, 1988) (departure sentence imposed upon revocation based on lewd assault of child, which offense was same type of offense for which probation imposed, held invalid under R. 3.701(d)(11) since no conviction obtained); Helms v. State, 522 So.2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (departure sentence imposed upon revocation for reason of extraordinary psychological trauma to child-victim of fondling crime for which probation imposed, held invalid because trauma not supported by facts proven beyond reasonable doubt as required by State v. Mischler, supra); Fisher v. State, 489 So.2d 857, 858 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 500 So.2d 545 1986) (departure reason that defendant committed same offense while on probation held invalid under R. 3.701(d)(11) since no conviction for new crime); Lewis v. State, 510 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (departure sentence imposed upon revocation for reason that conscience of court satisfied defendant involved in violent crime while on probation for violent crime held invalid under Mischler standard and R. 3.701(d)(11) since defendant neither admitted this violation nor was convicted of it); State v. Amico, 525 So.2d 515 (Fla. 4th (since sentencing upon revocation must 1988) accordance with guidelines, new scoresheet must be prepared); Mack v. State, 489 So.2d 205, 206 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) (departure reason based on defendant's commission of robbery and resisting arrest with violence while on probation held invalid absent convictions: "We reject the state's argument that the trial judge's finding, for purposes of probation revocation, that the committed these felonies was tantamount conviction."); Royer v. State, 488 So.2d 649, 650 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) (departure reason based on offense for which probation "...he shot the victim almost killing him which revoked, constitutes the violation. He is very violent and the facts of his violation prove that out", held invalid under R. 3.701(d)(11) since defendant later acquitted of substantive offense); Henderson v. State, 496 So.2d 965, 966 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (departure sentence upon revocation based on reason defendant charged with four drug-related offenses probation held invalid since to go beyond one-cell increase of R. 3.701(d)(14), sentence "must be supported by clear and convincing reasons for departure" [citing to Pentaude v. State, 478 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), approved 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987)], which under R. 3.701 (d)(11) require convictions); Lockett v. State, 516 So.2d 46 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (where recommended range (Cont'd)

whether one's probation should be revoked with the fundamentally discrete issue of what sentence should be imposed on the original offense upon revocation.

The decision to revoke probation embraces the dual inquiry of whether the individual has engaged in conduct violative of the terms of the conditional liberty which the court has granted to him in its discretion, and if so, whether, due to the violation, the revocation of probation, as opposed to its continuation or modification, is warranted. Gagnon v. Scarpelli, 411 U.S. 778, (1973); §948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1985); Rule 3.790(b). Fla.R.Crim.P. Because probation is conferred after guilt has already been found, and its purpose is to assess the defendant's rehabilitative potential while unincarcerated, the determination as to whether there has been a violation of the probation resolved under the conscience of the conditions is standard. Bernhardt v. State, 288 So.2d 490, 495 (Fla. 1974); Russ v. State, 313 So.2d 758, 760 (Fla.), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 924 (1975). Thus, the probation revocation determination focuses exclusively upon conduct during the probation period for the limited purposes of ascertaining the existence of a violation and

was any nonstate prison sanction but state and defense agreed to community control, upon revocation, trial court could only impose one-cell increase from original recommended range absent clear and convincing reasons since sentence upon revocation must be in accordance with guidelines); McClatchie v. State, 482 So.2d 550 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (recommended sentence can be increased one-cell under Rule 3.701(d)(14) for probation violation, but further increase prohibited based upon factors relating to any offense for which conviction not obtained). Accord Royal v. State, 508 So.2d 1313 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Wilson v. State, 510 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Fabelo v. State 488 So.2d 915, 916-17 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Hudson v. State, 504 So.2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Weaver v. State, 475 So2d 1365 (Fla 2d DCA 1985).

resolving whether the conditional liberty status should be continued or terminated.

In contrast, sentencing following probation revocation is for the purpose of imposing punishment upon a defendant for the original felony offense of which he was convicted. §948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1985). Accordingly, sentencing following revocation is no different than sentencing in any other felony case and is governed by the guidelines scheme. In recognition of this, Rule 3.701(d)(14) puts the defendant whose probation has been revoked in the same stead as all other defendants who have been adjudged guilty of a felony and are facing sentencing, with one important exception. The trial court can, in its discretion and without complying with the restrictive rules regarding departures, extend the recommended range by one cell because of the defendant's failure to abide by the court-imposed terms of his conditional one-cell increase authorized under liberty. The 3.701(d)(14) is therefore similar in function to the uniformlyprescribed legal constraint points under Rule 3.701(d)(6) which are assessed against an individual when he is being sentenced for a crime that was committed while on probation.

Of course, departures, although circumscribed, are permitted in all cases and sentencing upon probation revocation is no different. As State v. Pentaude, supra, recognizes, the defendant's conduct during probation is relevant to the sentencing determination. Thus, such factors as the timing of the violation, its underlying basis, the number of times probation has been violated and the number of conditions

violated, are pertinent to the sentencing court's assessment of the defendant's character. Id. 500 So.2d at 528.

These factors are the same as many other factors which are considered at any sentencing proceeding, whether initial or post-probation revocation. Thus, the timing of offenses in relationship to one another and/or in relationship to prior releases from imprisonment, the escalating pattern of criminal activity, and the nature and number of offenses committed subsequent to the offense for which sentencing is being imposed, are clearly relevant to an evaluation of the defendant's character for sentencing purposes.³

Although these factors may comprise valid departure reasons in the abstract, before they may be relied upon for departure, proof of the facts supporting the reasons must be established beyond a reasonable doubt and, if they encompass a crime, a conviction must be obtained. In State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523, 525 (Fla. 1986), this Court declared that in order to support a departure with "clear and convincing reasons", "the facts supporting the reasons" must "be credible and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." The use of this standard ensures that extended punishment is not meted out on the basis of insufficiently-supported factual allegations. It thus fosters

The state asserts that in the absence of a conviction, a defendant's criminal conduct is relevant to sentencing after probation revocation, but on the other hand is "irrelevant" and "wholly extraneous" to initial sentencing. Brief of Petitioner, at 6, 11. No basis for any distinction is given and none exists. Criminal conduct is clearly relevant to all sentencing, but it cannot be considered without satisfying the requisite standard of proof.

reliability in the sentencing process. Likewise, the express prohibition contained in the committee note to Rule 3.701(d)(11) against departures based upon an offense for which no conviction has been obtained, prevents the exaction of extended punishment on the basis of criminal activity alleged but not proven by the state. State v. Jaggers, 526 So.2d 682 (Fla. 1988); State v. Tyner, 506 So.2d 405, 406 (Fla. 1987); Williams v. State, 500 So.2d 501, 502-03 (Fla. 1986) By requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt and, where criminal activity is relied upon, a conviction, the goal of uniformity is promoted because departures are deterred unless soundly based.

This deterrent rationale applies with equal force to initial and probation revocation sentencing; the purpose of both is to impose punishment for the original offense of which the defendant has been convicted. To singularly allow departures in probation revocation sentencing based upon allegations of misconduct assessed under the conscience of the court standard invites indirectly what is prohibited directly - the meting out of punishment for acts of which the defendant has not been found guilty, and encourages unwarranted disparity in the sentencing of similarly-situated offenders.⁴

⁴ Nor can disparate treatment be justified by conceiving of probation as "a matter of judicial grace". See Tuthill v. State, 518 So.2d 1300, 1304 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (Schwartz, C.J. dissenting). Underlying the "grace" rationale is the notion that since a trial court in its unfettered discretion could have originally imposed any sentence up to the statutory maximum, once the court revokes probation which it had imposed as a matter of grace, it may then in its unbridled discretion impose the statutory maximum penalty. Whatever validity this rationale may have had in the past, it no longer survives the advent of the guidelines. Under the guidelines, the court's discretion to (Cont'd)

There is no reason for any distinction between the standard of proof required at an initial sentencing or post-revocation sentencing. This point has been correctly recognized in the many decisions which have held invalid departures based upon a defendant having violated his probation by the commission of a substantive offense where the requirements of Rule 3.701(d)(11)⁵ and State v. Mischler, supra, 6 have not been met. See Eldridge v.

impose, originally, either probation or the statutory maximum penalty is strictly circumscribed: in order to do so, the guidelines score must fall within the recommended range or clear and convincing reasons must be established.

The contention that the phrase "factors relating to the instant offense" in Rule 3.701(d)(11) is confined to the original charge for which sentence is being imposed and that, therefore, factors relating to subsequently committed offenses are not embraced by the prohibition of (d)(11) is patently incorrect. See Tuthill v. State, 518 So.2d 1300, 1304 n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (Schwartz, C.J., dissenting). The committee note to Rule 3.701(d)(11) broadly sets forth that "[t]he court is prohibited from considering offenses for which the offender has not been convicted." The committee notes, of course, have been adopted by this Court as part of the official sentencing guidelines. See The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure, 451 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984).

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